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UN ITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLO RIDA

FILLD BY D.C.

Jtl! 2 8 2221
ANGELA E. rqoBt E
CLEFIK .t) s , uls'r é'r
s. o. oF ICLA. . MlAuiTHE UN ITED STATES OF AM ERICA

px rel. JOHN DOE,

Plaintiff-Relator, CIVIL ACTIO N NO .:

REN NOVA HEALTH , IN C.,
PB LABORATORIES, LLC dba
COLLECTAW A Y, LLC, M EDYTOX
M EDICAL M ARKETING & SALES, IN C.,
SEAM US LAGAN, ALCIM EDE, IN C.,
TREVO R LAN GLEY and M EDIA CAPITAL
H OLDINGS LLC,

FILED UNDER sj/f,
PURSUANT TO 31 LtS.C.

j 373p(p)(2)

JURY TRIAL DEM ANDED

Defendants.

CO M PLAINT

Pursuant to the Federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. j 3729, et seq., Relator John Doe

(''Relator''), hereby brings this act-ion against Rennova Health, lnc. (''Rennova''), PB

Laboratories, LLC dba Collectaw ay, LLC, M edytox M edical M arketing & Sales, lnc.,

Seam us Lagan, Alcim ede, lnc., Trevor Langley and M edia Capital Holdings LLC,

(''Defendants//). As grounds for this Complaint, Relator states as follows: Rennova

fraudulently obtained more than $9,000,000 in HHS Covid provider relief funds and

used those funds to pay ineligible expenses and transfer funds to ineligible recipients.

Since 2017, Rennova has sought to transform  itself from  a provider of

healthcare diagnostics and software into a com pany that invests in hospitals. ln the past
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four years, Rennova acquired three hospitals w hich received H HS provider relief funds.

Rennova itself was not eligible for these provider relief funds because it is not, and

never has been, a healthcare provider.

Be- een April 10, 2020 and July 15, 2020, HHS granted the three hospitals

provider relief funds totaling $12,289,486.27. Remaova CEO, Seam us Lagan, initially

transferred all of the H HS funds into Rennova's general corporate account. Lagan m ade

these t'ransfers even though HH S relief paym ents are to be spent only ''to prezvnt,

pvepavefot', and respond to ctlronfkkljrtfs, and tltat é/lc paynlent ''and payments must

''
reimburse #lt? applicant onlyfor lwaltll care related expenses t)r lost rctirflft?s tllat are

rlffrïlprf table to tlw zlirus.''

Instead, Rennova urtlawfully used the H HS m oney for its own purposes. ln

total, between April, 2020 and July, 2020, $9,457,191.37 was used to pay CEO Lagan's

executive com pensation, as well as Remaova's general, non-covid-related corporate

expenses and debts.

1. PARTIES

John Doe (''Relator'') is an individual possessing certain informat-ion

concerning H HS Provider Relief Funds and Paym ent Protection Loans.

Rennova Health, lnc. (''ReImova'') is a Delaware publicly traded corporation

(RNVA) with headquarters in W est Palm Beach, Florida.
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PB Laboratories, LLC dba Collectaw ay, LLC is a Florida Lim ited Liability

com pany with a principal address of 400 South Australian Avenue, 8th floor, W est Palm

Beach Florida.

M edytox M edical M arketing & Sales, lnc. is a Florida for profit corporation

w ith a principal address of 931 Village Blvd. 905-196, W est Palm Beach, Florida 33409.

Alcim ede, lnc. is a Delaw are corporation w ith file num ber 4479543 and no

registered address. The corporation is owned by Defendant Seam us Lagan.

Seam us Lagan is a private individual w ho, on inform ation and belief resides

in the Republic of lreland and is the owner of Alcim ede, Inc.

10. M edia Capital Holdings LLC is a W yom ing Lim ited Liability Com pany with

a principal address of 1000 N Green Valley Pkw y. #440-420, H enderson, NV 89074.

11. Trevor Langley is a private individual and Rennova board m em ber w ho, on

inform ation and belief, resides in the state of N evada and is the ow ner of Defendant

M edial Capital H oldings LLC.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. j 1331, this Court has original jurisdiction over the

subject mat-ter of this civil act-ion because it arises under the laws of the United States, in

particular the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. j 3729, et seq. (''FCA''). In addition, the FCA

specifically confers jurisdiction upon this Court pursuant to 31 U.S.C. j 3732$).
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This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants pursuant to

31 U.S.C. j 3732(a) because the FCA authorizes nationwide service of process and

Defendants have sufficient m inim um  contacts w ith the United States of Am erica.

14. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 31 U.S.C. j 3732(a) because

Defendants reside in and/or t'ransact business in this judicial district.

15. W ith the exception of the fact that Jamestown M edical Center was closed at

the tim e it received HHS provider relief funds, Relator is unaw are of any public

disclosure of the itaform ation or allegations that are the basis of this Com plaint. In the

event that there has been a public disclosure, Relator is the original source of the

inform ation and allegations contained in this Com plaint. Prior to the filing of this

act-ion, Relator voluntarily provided inform ation to the United States Governm ent

regarding the false claims that are the subject of this act-ion. Relator sent notice to the

United States of the false claim s alleged in this Complaint on July 15, 2012.

Relator alleges that Defendants' unlaw ful acts, as described below w ere, at all

tim es, m aterial to the United States' decision to pay HH S PRF to Defendants.

111. THE FAI-SE CLAIM S ACT

Since 2006, the M edicare program has purchased prescription drugs for those

persons eligible for Medicare. The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. j 3729(a)(1)(A), makes

''knowingly'' presenting or causing to be presented to the United States any false or

fraudulent claim for payment or approval a violation of federal law for which the

United States m ay recover three tim es the am ount of the dam ages the governm ent
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sustains and a civil m onetary penalt
.y of between $11,665 and $23,331 per claim . See

Civil Monetary Penalties lnflation Adjustment, 85 Fed. Reg. 37004 (Jun. 19, 2020).

The False Claim s Act m akes ''know ingly'' m aking, using, or causing to be

used or m ade, a false record or statem ent m aterial to a false or fraudulent claim , a

violation of federal law for w hich tlae United States m ay recover tluee tim es the am ount

of the dam ages the Governm ent sustains and a civil m onetary penalty of between

$11,665 and $23,331 per claim .

19. The False Claim s Act m akes any person w ho conspires to com m it a violation

of the FCA liable for three tim es the am ount of the dam ages the Governm ent sustains

and a civil m onetary penalty of be- een $11,665 and $23,331 per claim .

20. The False Claim s Act defines a ''claim '' to include any request or dem and,

w hether under a contract or otherwise, for m oney or property w hich is m ade to a

contractor, grantee, or other recipient if the United States Governm ent provides any

portion of the money or property which is requested or demanded, or if the

Governm ent will reim burse such contractor, grantee, or other recipient. Any claim

subm itted by a M edicare or a M edicaid provider for a paym ent constitutes a claim

under the False Claim s Act. Any claim  subm itted by a provider for paym ent by a

federal insurance plan, such as Tricare, is also a ''claim '' for purposes of the False

Claim s Act.

21. ln 2009, the scope of the FCA was widened to included statem ents m ade to

private nongovernm ental entities in connection w ith a request for funds to w hich the

United States has no title and w hich al'e not expended on the Govevnm ent's behalf m ay
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nevertheless im plicate FCA liability if the funds w ere m eant to advance a federal

program  or interest. Under the am ended statutory language, a ''claim '' now includes:

any request or dem and, whether under a contract or
otherwise, for m oney or property w hich and whether or
not the United States has title to the m oney or property
that- (1) ls presented to an offlcer, employee, or agent of
the United States; or (ii) is made to a contractor, grantee, or
other recipient, if the m oney or property is to be spent or
used on the Governm ent's behalf or to advance a
Governm ent program  or interest, and if the United States
Government- (I) provides or has provided any portion of
the m oney or property which is requested, or dem andedg
or if the Government (11) will reimburse such contractor,
grantee, or other recipient for any portion of the m oney or
property which is requested or demanded; and (B) does not
include requests or dem ands for m oney or property that
the G overnm ent has paid to an individual as com pensation
for Federal em ploym ent or as an incom e subsidy w ith no
restrictions on that individual's use of the m oney or
property.

Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009, Pub. L. No. 111-21, j 4 (May 20, 2009).

lV. 2020 CO VID PAND EM IC FIN AN CIAL RELIEF

The Cprozlfulirzfs Aid, Reliefand Ecouoznic Sealrity (''CARES'') z4cà

22. On M arch 27, 2020, Congress enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and

Economic Security Act (the ''CARES'' Act), Pub. L. No. 116-136. Pursuant to this

legislation, Congress appvopriated $175 billion to pay eligible healthcare providers for

healthcare related expenses or lost revenues attributable to the coronavirus. The

Depar% ent of Health & Human Services (''HHS'') was appointed to administer these

funds.
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Two weeks later, on April 10, 2020, HHS unilaterally distributed the first $30

billion to providers. Under the Covid provider relief program, recipients who retained

those distributions for m ore than 90 days are deem ed to have accepted the term s and

conditions of the provider relief program  and to have m ade the follow ing certifications,

that: (i) after January 31, 2020, they provided testing, or care, for individuals with

possible or actual cases of COV1D-19; (ii) they are not currently terminated from

participation in M edicare or precluded from  receiving paym ent through M edicare

Advantage or Part D; (iii) they are not currently excluded from participation in

Medicare, Medicaid or other Federal health care programs; and (iv) they do not

currently have M edicare billing privileges revoked.

24. Additional terms and conditions included, amongst other things, that: (i) any

non-compliance was material to the decision to dist-ribute such funds; (ii) that non-

compliance meant the HHS Secretary could recoup all or some of the funds; (iii) that

such funds would only be used to ''prevent, prepare for and respond to COVlD-19'';

(vi) that payment would reimburse the recipient only for healtlware related expenses or

lost revenues attributable to the virus; (vii) that the recipient would maintain

appropriate records and cost docum entation to substantiate these reim bursem ents; and

(viii) that a11 information provided by the recipient was true, accurate and complete and

that any deliberate om ission, m isrepresentadon or falsification w as punishable by, inter

alia, crim inal penalties.l

l https://www.bhs.gov/coronavirus/cares-act-provider-relief-fund/general-information/index.latml
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIO N S

Rennova Health, lnc.

25. Rennova is a m oribund, publicly-traded Delaw are corporation with

headquarters in W est Palm  Beach Florida. A glance at its stock perform ance illustrates

the m arket's view of this com pany:

17 M Y 'r )'NuJ: 1 w/
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26. Since 2017, Rennova has sought to transform itself from  a provider of

healthcare diagnostics and software into an investor in hospitals. ln the m eantim e, it

acquired three hospitals:

Scott County Com m unity Hospital aka Big South Fork Com m unity H ospital

(''scott County Hospital'') purchased on January 17, 2017 for $1,000,000 from the

bankruptcy court;

Jamestown TN M edical Center in Jamestown TN purchased on June 1, 2018 for

approximately $1.1 m illion

Jellico Medical Center (the only hospital in Jellico, Tennessee) purhcased for

$658,000 on March 7, 20199 (together the ''Facilit-ies//).
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Rennovafyaudulently obtained and misused HH5 Prok'ider Ikelief Fl,lz7Js

W hen Remaova's Facilities received HHS provider relief, Remaova CEO

Seam us Lagan immediately misdirected those funds away from the hospitals and used

the majority of the funds for ineligible purposes. Lagan knew that because, as a failing

m edical diagnostic com pany, Rennova itself w as not eligible for HH S Covid provider

relief.

28. Between April 10, 2020 and July 15, 2020, HHS granted relief to the following

Rennova facilities:

* Scott County Community Hospital, lnc. $3,471,770.93;

* Jamestown TN M edical Center, Inc. $121,721.59;2 and

* Jellico M edical Center, Inc. $8,695,789.86.

This sum total of $12,289,486.27 was diverted into a bank account owned and controlled

by Relmova (the ''PB Labs accountv). Betkveen April and July of 2020, $9,457,191.37 was

then unlawfully used to pay Rennova's corporate payroll and expenses, salary

payments to Defendant Lagan (via his corporation Alcimede, lnc.), and transfers to

Defendant Trevor Langley's corporation, M edia Capital H oldings LLC .

Rennova retained these funds for m ore than 90 days and therefore becam e

subject to the terms and conditions of the program. Rennova breached those terms and

conditions w hen it deprived the Facilities of m oney which should have been used to

''prevent, prepare for, and respond to coronavirus'' or to reim burse the hospitals for

2 Jamestown Medical Center also included a medical practice known as Mountain View Physician Practice, which
received $203.89 in Covid provider relief funds.
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health care related expenses or lost revenues attributable to the virus. lndeed, the effect

of this deprivation led to the closure of Jellico M edical Center in M arch 2021.

Vl. COUN TS

FIRST CAU SE O F ACTIO N
DEFENDANTS' VIOLATION OF 31 U.S.C. : 3729 (a)(1)(A)

Relator repeats and reallege the allegations set forth in Paragraph 1 through

Paragraph ### as though set forth herein.

As described above, Defendants have know ingly caused the presentation of

num erous false or fraudulent claim s to the United States through the H HS PRF.

32. At a1l tim es, Defendants knew that, if H HS had known of the true purpose of

the PRF, to pay for unallowable expenses and unlaw ful transfers to ineligible recipients,

the Departm ent would not have provided such funds.

33. By reason of the above-described actions and the presentment of false or

fraudulent claim s subm itted to H HS, the United States has suffered significant losses in

an am ount to be determ ined.

SECON D CAUSE OF ACTION
DEFENDANTS' VIOLATION OF 31 U.S.C. : 3729 (a)(1)(B)

34. Relator repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in Paragraph 4 through

Paragraph ### as though set forth herein.

35. As described above, Defendants knowingly have made, used, or caused to be

m ade or used, false records or statem ents m aterial to false or fraudulent claim s

subm itted to H HS.
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At all tim es, Defendants knew that, if H HS had know n of the t'rue purpose of

the PRF, to pay for unallow able expenses and unlaw ful t'ransfers to ineligible recipients,

the Departanent w ould not have provided such funds.

By reason of the above-described actions and the use of false records or

statem ents m aterial to false or fraudulent claim s subm itted to HH S, the United States

has suffered significant losses in an am ount to be determ ined.

THIRD CAUSE O F ACTION
DEFENDANTS' VIOLATION OF 31 U.S.C. : 3729 (a)(1)(C)

Relator repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in Paragraph 1 through

Paragraph ### as though set forth herein.

As described above, Defendants knowingly conspired to: (a) present, or cause

to be presented, false or fraudulent claims to HHS for paym ent or approval; and

(b) make, use, or cause to be made or used, false records or statements material to a

false or fraudulent claim  to HH S.

40. At all tim es, Defendants knew that, if H HS had know n of the true purpose of

the PRF, to pay for unallowable expenses and unlawful transfers to ineligible recipients,

the Departm ent would not have provided such funds.

41. By reason of the above-described conspiracy, the United States has suffered

significant losses iIA an am ount to be determ ined.

CON CLUSION

W HEREFORE, the Relator, on behalf of the United States, hereby prays that this

Court:
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Enter judgment against Defendants holding them liable for three times

the am ount of dam ages sustained by the United States because of the

acts of Defendants;

Enter judgment against Defendants holding them liable for civil

penalties of $23,331 for each violation of the False Claims Act

com m itted by Defendants;

Enter judgment against Defendants awarding the Relator a percentage

of the proceeds recovered by the United States as a result of this action

in accordance with 31 U.S.C. j 3730(d);

4. Enter judgment against Defendants awarding the Relator his costs and

reasonable attorneys' fees for prosecuting this action in accordance w ith

31 U.S.C. j 3730(d); and

5. Enter judgment against Defendants awarding any and all other relief

that the Court finds to be just and equitable.
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PLAINTIFF-RELATOR DEMANDS A TRIAL BY JURY ON ALL COUNTS

Dated: July , 2021

Respectfully subm itted, t ,
.1

44 s' 2
,. . 

V ' ' ' ' '

4+ /*  I
J'

ys/lonathan Kroner; Esq.
FBN 328677
Jonathan Kroner Law Office
6001 N Ocean Dr., Ste. 806
Hollywood, FL 33019-4617
305.310.6046
jk/FloridaFalseclainl.colll

mnd-

Royston H . Delaney, Esq.
RORY DELANEY, ESQ., LLC
50 Congress Street, Suite 600
Boston, M assachusetts 02109

(857) 498-0384
rory@rorydelaney.com
(pro /lfE(T vice application forthcoming)

mnd-

Ilyas J. Rona, Esq.
M ILLIGAN RONA DURAN & KING LLC
50 Congress Skeet, Suite 600
Boston, M assachusetts 02109

(617) 395-9570
ijrcbmrdklaw.com
(pro llac wïcc application forthcoming)
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